RECEIVED

APR 2 6 2018

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

95170-3

No. 50022-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY CITIZENS AGAINST FLUORIDATION, a nonprofit corporation, Petitioner,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE PHARMACY QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION, an administrative agency, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gerald B. Steel Gerald B. Steel, PE Attorneys for King County Citizens Against Fluoridation, as Petitioner

7303 Young Rd. NW Olympia, WA 98502 (360) 867-1166 (360) 867-1166 FAX geraldsteel@yahoo.com WSBA # 31084

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	1.	Statement of the Procedural History of the Case	3		
	2.	Statement of the Facts of the Case	5		
E.	ARGU	JMENT	12		
F.	CONC	CLUSION	15		
CERT	TFICAT	TE OF SERVICE	16		
APPENDIX INDEX					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases	
1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15	Kaul v. City of Chehalis ("Kaul"), 45 Wn.2d 616, 277 P.2d 352 (1954)
10	National Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v. Riveland, 138 Wn.2d 9, 978 P.2d 481 (1999)
10	Northwest Sportfishing Industry Ass'n v. Dep't of Ecology, 172 Wn.App. 72, 288 P.3d 677 (Div. 2 2012)
10	Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 151 Wn.2d 568, 90 P.3d 659 (2004)
2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13,	Protect Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles ("Protect Peninsula's Future"), 175 Wn.App. 201, 304 P.3d 914 (Div. 2 2013), rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1022, 312 P.3d 651 (2013)
12, 15	Rios v. Washington Dept. of Labor and Industries ("Rios"), 145 Wn.2d 483, 39 P.3d 961, (2002)
RCW	
13	7.70.050
6,	18.32.020 (former)
7, 12, 13	Ch. 18.64 (former)
7	Ch. 18.64
8	18.64.005(1)
8	18.64.005(5)
8	18.64.005(6)
8, 15	18.64.005(7)
6, 7, 12	18.64.010 (former)
5, 8, 9	18.64.011(12) (former)
5, 8	18.64.011(14)

```
6 18.71.010 (former)
```

WAC

U.S.C.

9 FD&C Act

9 SDWA

CFR

9

40 CFR 141.62

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is King County Citizens Against Fluoridation ("Citizens"), a nonprofit corporation.

B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

King County Citizens Against Fluoridation v. Washington State Pharmacy Quality Assurance Commission, 50022-1-II. A copy of the March 27, 2018 unpublished Opinion of is provided in Appendix 1 hereto.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Should the denial of Citizens' Petition for rule-making by the Washington State Pharmacy Quality Assurance Commission ("Commission") be remanded to the Commission for further proceedings because the Commission's decision is arbitrary and capricious?
- 2) Should this Court clarify that based on the administrative record ("AR") and law, that the rejection in *Kaul v. City of Chehalis* ("*Kaul*"), 45 Wn.2d 616, 625, 277 P.2d 352 (1954) of the Kaul assignment of error regarding "sell drugs" did not reach the issue of whether the City of Chehalis fluoridated water was a drug under the statutory definition of drugs in former RCW 69.04.009?
- 3) Should this Court find that in reasonable consideration of the facts and circumstances including the Brief of Appellant Arthur Kaul in the administrative record of the Commission, that the only possible interpretation of *Kaul* at 625 is that the *Kaul* Court did not consider or decide on the merits whether public fluoridated waters and their fluoridating additives are drugs when "intended solely for use in the prevention of tooth decay" disease?

- 4) Should this Court find that in reasonable consideration of the administrative record, *Kaul* at 625, and *Protect Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles* ("*Protect Peninsula's Future*"), 175 Wn.App. 201, 304 P.3d 914 (Div. 2 2013) that the Commission could not reasonably rely, as it did, on the dicta in *Protect Peninsula's Future* at 216 that "*Kaul 's* decision [is] that fluorides in drinking water are not drugs under Washington law"?
- 5) Should this Court find, based on the administrative record and law, that the Commission made a "willful and unreasoning decision taken without regard to the facts and/or circumstances" when it denied the rule-making petition for bottled waters making claims they will prevent tooth decay disease which are drug claims under RCW 69.04.009?
- 6) Should this Court find, based on the administrative record and law, that the Commission made a "willful and unreasoning decision taken without regard to the facts and/or circumstances" when it denied the rule-making petition for piped public fluoridated waters making claims they will prevent tooth decay disease which are drug claims under RCW 69.04.009?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Statement of the Procedural History of the Case

Citizens did substantial research on the meaning of the cryptic statement in Kaul at 625 regarding sale of City of Chehalis public fluoridated waters:

Appellant's remaining assignments of error . . . that the city is not engaged in selling drugs . . . as defined by statute [is] not well taken.

(Kaul at 625.) The Kaul Opinion² does not quote the relevant assignment of error and does not identify the relevant statute. It was uncontested in Kaul "[t]hat the addition of fluoride to the Chehalis water supply is intended solely for use in prevention of tooth decay" (Kaul at 618; AR103) and that tooth decay "is a common disease of mankind" (Kaul at 620; AR103).

Citizens also reviewed the statement in *Protect Peninsula's Future*³ that:

Kaul's decision [is] that fluorides in drinking water are not drugs under Washington law.

(Protect Peninsula's Future at 216.) Citizens went to the Washington State Law Library and got the Briefing Before the Kaul Court and researched the relevant statutes in effect in 1954 when Kaul was decided. There was only one possible interpretation of this cryptic statement in *Kaul* at 625. The *Kaul* Court rejected Appellant Kaul's assignment of error but it did not consider or decide whether selling public fluoridated waters is selling drugs when the intent is to prevent tooth decay disease.

 [&]quot;Sale" is a means of "distribution." (Trial Court Report of Proceedings ("RP2") at 34.)
 AR102-06 not including West Headnotes.
 AR92-100 not including West Headnotes.

Citizens then looked at the language quoted above from *Protect Peninsula's Future* at 216 and concluded that this language was only dicta⁴ and that no Washington appellate court had decided on the merits if selling public fluoridated waters with the claim of prevention of tooth decay disease was selling drugs. (Brief of Appellant at 45-46.)

Citizens assembled the facts and circumstances that prove beyond a doubt that the question of whether fluoridated water is a drug when intended to prevent tooth decay disease has not been decided by this state's appellate courts. Citizens put these facts and circumstances into a October 2, 2015, Petition for New State Administrative Rule (AR19-89) that it filed with the Commission. In summary, the Petition asked the Commission to adopt a rule to:

clarify that fluoridation chemical additives and fluoridated drinking waters (bottled and/or [from] public water systems, that are fluoridated with such additives) are drugs [under state statutes] when the intended use is ... prevention [of] tooth decay [disease].

(AR1.)

The Department of Health prepared the Commission SBAR analysis on November 16, 2015. (AR1-7.) Citizens' responded. (AR15-18.) Citizens was given twenty five (25) minutes to present its request at the December 11, 2015 Commission meeting. (CP92-93.) The Commission voted at that meeting and issued its written decision on January 26, 2016 which states:

⁴ The quoted sentence is not necessary to *Protect Peninsula's Future*'s decision in that case. (*Protect Peninsula's Future* at 214-17.) The trial court did not abuse discretion because, without Appellant Kaul's briefing in that record, *Kaul* at 625 could be interpreted to hold that public fluoridated waters were not drugs. When the quoted sentence is removed from the paragraph where it occurs in *Protect Peninsula's Future* at 216, the paragraph still reaches the same conclusion. (*See Protect Peninsula's Future* at 215, Note 11.)

The Commission denies your petition for rulemaking because fluoridating substances used in drinking water, including bottled water, are not drugs. Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wn.App. 201, 304 P.3d 914 (2013), rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1022, 312 P.3d 651 (2013). See also, RCW [former]18.64.011(12)⁵, 69.04.008, 69.04.009, and [former] $69.41.010(9)^6$.

(AR148.)

Citizens timely filed and served a petition for judicial review (CP4-90) under RCW 34.05.570(1) and (4). On February 10, 2017, the trial court entered a Final Order with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that affirmed the Commission's denial of Citizens' rule-making Petition. (CP172-75.) On February 24, 2017, Citizens filed and served its Notice of Appeal to Court of Appeals, Division II. (CP170-75.) The Brief of Appellant included Appendix A which provided copies of relevant statutes. A copy of that Appendix A is attached hereto.⁸

On March 27, 2018, Court of Appeals, Div. II issued its unpublished Opinion without oral argument. A copy of that Opinion is provided in Appendix 1 hereto. (Supra at 1.)

2. Statement of the Facts of the Case

As stated previously (supra at 3), the cryptic statement in Kaul at 625 is:

Appellant's remaining assignments of error . . . that the city is not engaged in selling drugs . . . as defined by statute [is] not well taken

⁵ The same language is in current RCW 18.64.011(14).

The same language is in current RCW 69.41.010(10).
 "CP" refers to Clerk's Papers.

⁸ Pages in Appendix A hereto are referred to as A[page number].

The Brief of Appellant Kaul identifies the "selling drugs" assignment of error:

The [trial] court erred in entering Conclusion of Law IV stating that the City in carrying out the provisions of Ordinance No. 653-A is not engaging in selling drugs as defined in [former] RCW 18.64.010 or practicing medicine, dentistry, or pharmacy as defined in [former] RCW 18.71.010, 18.64.010, and 18.32.020, as said Conclusion does not follow from the Findings of Fact entered by the trial court.

(AR57 (emphasis supplied).) Appellant Kaul argued to the trial court that the City was engaging in selling drugs as defined in [former] RCW 18.64.010 and when the trial court ruled against him on this issue, he assigned an error to that ruling. But as Citizens stated in its rule-making Petition, Appellant Kaul "failed to support this assignment of error with legal argument." (AR24)

Perhaps the most obvious demonstration that "selling drugs as defined in [former] RCW 18.64.010" was not argued is found on AR48 where it states that a citation to [former] "RCW 18.64.010" only appears on page 17 (AR57) of Kaul's Brief. Said page 17 (AR57) only mentions [former] RCW 18.64.010 in the relevant assignment of error. No other part of Kaul's Brief mentions [former] RCW 18.64.010. The Brief of Appellant at 20-23 further develops the fact that Appellant Kaul did not argue the "selling drugs" assignment of error.

Appellant Kaul did not argue this assignment of error because there was no argument to be made. The "selling drugs" assignment of error also identifies the "statute" that Appellant Kaul relied upon. It is [former] RCW 18.64.010. There was only one state definition of drugs in the 1950's and that was in RCW 69.04.009. (AR32; Brief of Respondent at 12.) This statute

was put substantially in its current form in 1945. (Compare Appendix A25) (as part of A23 to A30) to AR32) There is no mention of former RCW 69.04.009 in the Kaul briefs. (AR46-69.) There is no mention of former RCW 69.04.009 in the *Kaul* Opinion or dissents. (AR101-13.) legislature first added a definitions section in former Ch. 18.64 RCW in 1963, well after *Kaul* was decided. (AR139-41 and particularly AR141.)⁹ The legislature first added a definitions section in former Ch. 69.41 RCW even later, in 1973. (AR144-46 and particularly AR 145.)¹⁰ In the 1950's when Kaul was decided there was no definition of "drugs" or "selling" in the "statute" (former RCW 18.64.010) identified in Appellant Kaul's "selling drugs" assignment of error.11

It was a focus of the rule-making Petition and the facts and circumstances presented to the Commission in that Petition, that the "selling drugs" assignment of error was not considered or decided on the merits by the Kaul Court. (AR24.)

The rule-making Petition at AR25 explains that subsequent cases quoting Kaul (including Protect the Peninsula's Future later relied upon by the Commission), did not consider the original Kaul briefing, did not realize that Kaul's cryptic statement at 625 was not a decision on the merits regarding "selling drugs," and did not themselves analyze any statutory definition of drugs to reach their decisions.

⁹ AR 141 states the definitions section of Ch. 18.64 RCW was first adopted in "1963 c

³⁸ s. 1".

AR 145 states the definitions section of Ch. 69.41RCW was first adopted in "1973 1st AR 145 states the definitions section of Ch. 69.41RCW was first adopted in "1973 1st ex.s. c 186 s. 1". ex.s. c 186 s. 1". Appendix A19 to A22 is a copy of "1973 1st ex.s. c 186 s. 1".

11 Appendix A1 to A6 provides a copy of former Ch. 18,64 RCW (including former RCW 18.64.010) from the 1950's.

The rule-making Petition went on to analyze the plain language of RCW 69.04.009 (AR32), first adopted in 1945, as well as the plain language the legislature later adopted to define drugs in [former] 18.64.011(12)¹² (AR139) and [former] RCW 69.41.010(9)¹³ (AR144). (AR22-23; AR27-28.) The rule-making Petition shows that under a plain language analysis of all three current statutory definitions of drugs, bottled and piped fluoridated drinking waters, and the fluoridating additives that are a component of those waters, are drugs if the products are intended for use in the prevention of tooth decay disease. (Id.)

Citizens presented other facts and circumstances in its rule-making Petition:

The Commission is the only state agency that has authority to regulate drugs:

Promulgate rules for the . . . distribution, wholesaling, and manufacturing of drugs . . . for the protection and promotion of the public health, safety, and welfare.

(AR22 quoting RCW 18.64.005(7); see RCW 18.64.005(1), (5) and (6).)¹⁴

WAC 246-290-220(3) requires fluoridating additives to comply with ANSI/NSF Standard 60 and NSF states fluorides are "added to water for . . . preventing . . . tooth decay." (AR23 citing to AR35.) The U.S. Public Health Service and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services find fluoridation is "for the Prevention of Dental Caries." (AR23 citing to AR37.) Only one state statute addresses fluoridation and that statute does not state or

The same language that is in current RCW 18.64.011(14).

The same language that is in current RCW 69.41.010(10).

RCW 69.04.730 provides that the Commission shall "carry out all the provisions of [Ch. 69.04 RCW - Intrastate Commerce in Food, Drugs, and Cosmetics] pertaining to drugs."

imply that fluoridation need not comply with drug laws and regulations. (AR23-24)

- The addition of fluoride to public drinking water is not regulated by the federal Safe Drinking Water Act ("SDWA") or the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA")¹⁵. (AR25 citing to AR36 and AR39-43.)
- The U. S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") has ruled that, under the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ("FD&C Act"), bottled fluoridated municipal drinking water is a drug when it has a claim that it is intended to prevent tooth decay disease. (AR26-27 citing to AR44-45.) RCW 69.04.001 directs that state drug laws and regulations be "uniform" with the FD&C Act to "promote uniformity" throughout the States.
- The rule-making Petition ends its "justification" argument with:

This commission should adopt the proposed rule because when fluoridation chemical additives and fluoridated drinking waters have the intended use to aid in the prevention, mitigation, and/or prophylactic treatment of dental caries disease (tooth decay, cavities), they are drugs pursuant to [former] RCW 18.64.011(12), 69.04.009, and [former] 69.41.010(9) and the commission has jurisdiction over manufacturing, wholesaling, and distribution of these drugs as well as enforcement authority to ensure that there is compliance with state and federal drug laws. Because the commission has not previously recognized its authority in these matters, and the public is not aware of this commission authority, it is advisable that this regulation be adopted to avoid misunderstandings.

(AR27-28.)

Under RCW 34.05.570(1) and (4) a decision on rule-making may be remanded and/or a declaratory order issued under RCW 34.05.574(1) if the

¹⁵ Unless the fluoride concentration in the water exceeds 4 parts per million. (40 CFR 141.62.)

decision is arbitrary or capricious. (RCW34.05.570(4)(c)(iii).) In judicial review, Citizen's claimed the Commission's decision was arbitrary and/or capricious. (See e.g. Brief of Appellant at 3, first paragraph.)

[A]gency action is deemed arbitrary and capricious if it is willful and unreasoning, and taken without consideration and in disregard of the facts and circumstances.

(National Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v. Riveland, 138 Wn.2d 9, 29, 978 P.2d 481 (1999).) "[R]eview is de novo, limited to the agency record available to the court. RCW 34.05.558." (Northwest Sportfishing Industry Ass'n v. Dep't of Ecology, 172 Wn.App. 72, 90, 288 P.3d 677 (Div. 2 2012).)

Where there is room for two opinions, and the agency acted honestly and upon due consideration, this court should not find that an action was arbitrary and capricious, even though this court may have reached the opposite conclusion. This court should not undertake to exercise the discretion that the legislature has placed in the agency.

(Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 151 Wn.2d 568, 589, 90 P.3d 659 (2004) (punctuation and citations omitted).)

Citizens claims that in consideration of the facts and circumstances presented in the rule-making Petition, and, in particular, the analysis of the cryptic statement in *Kaul* at 625, that there is not room for "two opinions." The only possible opinion, in due consideration of the facts and circumstances in the record, is that *Kaul* did not decide on the merits the issue of whether the City's fluoridated water and its fluoridating additives were drugs when intended solely for use in the prevention of tooth decay disease.

Because this is the only possible opinion based on due consideration of the facts and circumstances in the record, the Commission acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner when it based its decision on dicta in *Protect Peninsula's Future* at 216 that states that *Kaul* determined on the merits "that fluorides in drinking water are not drugs under Washington law."

Citizens' rule-making Petition told the Commission that cases quoting Kaul, including Protect the Peninsula's Future, did not have the original Kaul briefing. (AR25.) The original Kaul briefing provided to the Commission by the rule-making Petition is necessary to understand the cryptic statement in Kaul at 625. So, while the "selling drugs" assignment of error was rejected by the Kaul Court, that rejection did not reach the issue of whether the City's fluoridated water is a drug under former RCW 69.04.009 (Appendix A25), the only state statute that defined drugs when Kaul was decided. It was willful and unreasoning action to disregard the facts and circumstances described in the rule-making Petition and then to rely on dicta in Protect Peninsula's Future at 216 that states "Kaul's decision [is] that fluorides in drinking water are not drugs under Washington law."

Citizens' rule-making Petition argued that the Commission should find that bottled fluoridated waters and their fluoridating additives are drugs when the claim is "this drinking water is intended for use in the prevention of tooth decay disease." (AR26-27) The FDA considering the same facts and circumstances determined that such bottled waters are drugs. (*Id.*) It is not rational for the Commission to conclude that such bottled waters would not be drugs in Washington State based only on dicta in *Protect Peninsula's Future* which only addresses public piped fluoridated waters.

Citizens made it clear to the Commission that it intended to ask this Court to clarify *Kaul*.

Mr. Steel was very upfront . . . that Citizens bring this petition . . . as the first step in asking the Supreme Court to . . . clarify Kaul.

(Trial Court RP2 at 40-41; CP111; CP182)

E. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review because this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that must be determined by the Supreme Court. The only way that Courts like the *Protect Peninsula's Future* Court will realize that *Kaul* did not decide "that fluorides in drinking water are not drugs under Washington law" is if the Supreme Court clarifies cryptic statement of *Kaul* at 625 when this Court scrutinizes the record to determine if the Commission decision was rational. (*See Rios v. Washington Dept. of Labor and Industries* ("*Rios*"), 145 Wn.2d 483, 501-02, 39 P.3d 961, (2002).)

It was a focus of the rule-making Petition to attach Appellant Kaul's brief to the Petition and identify the "selling drugs" assignment of error that the *Kaul* Court failed to identify but summarily rejected. Appellant Kaul claimed error because the trial court found the City "is not engaging in selling drugs as defined in [former] RCW 18.64.010." (AR57.) The rule-making Petition states the "selling drugs" assignment of error was rejected because it was not argued. (AR24.)

The only state definition of drugs in the 1950's when *Kaul* was decided was in former RCW 69.04.009 adopted in 1945. (AR32 from the rule-making Petition.) Appellant Kaul's assignment of error relied on a "drugs" definition allegedly from former RCW 18.64.010. (*Supra*) The Administrative Record shows that "drugs" was first defined in former Ch. 18.64 RCW in 1963. (AR139-141, and particularly AR141.) In the 1950's

there was no definition of drugs in former Ch. 18.64 RCW. (*Id.*; Appendix A1 to A6.) The "selling drugs" assignment of error was not argued because Appellant Kaul realized the term "drugs" was not defined in former Ch. 18.64 RCW. (*Id.*)

When a water purveyor provides health care by distributing a drug to its customers, Washington citizens have a right to informed consent. (RCW 7.70.050.) By leaving the *Kaul* Court decision vague, the Commission and Appellate Courts such as *Protect Peninsula's Future* can falsely believe that it is decided law in Washington state that fluorides added to drinking water solely for the prevention of tooth decay disease are not drugs. (*See* AR148; *see also Protect Peninsula's Future* at 216). Whether or not such fluorides and fluoridated waters are drugs is for the Commission or Courts to decide in the future. But it does a disservice to the citizens of this state who receive public drinking water with fluoride added solely to prevent tooth decay disease for this Court to fail to clarify that *Kaul* has not decided whether such fluorides and fluoridated waters are drugs. This Court, of course, has a right to find that such fluorides and fluoridated waters are drugs based on the administrative record in this case.

This case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court because, today, about half of the people who live in Washington State are being supplied with drinking water fluoridated to prevent tooth decay disease piped directly into their homes. This fluoridated drinking water is manufactured by adding bulk fluoride products to source drinking water. There are only fifty-two public water purveyors in this state who manufacture fluoridated water. (AR 149-53)

Three quarters of these water purveyors operate municipal water systems and together these municipal systems directly supply 1.9 million people. (*Id.*) The remainder of these fifty-two public water purveyors (only eight of which are water districts) directly supply 0.3 million people. (*Id.*)

In addition, there are 136 other water purveyors in Washington State who only serve water obtained from the said fifty-two fluoridated water manufacturers and who may also serve some unfluoridated water. (*Id.*) These 136 other water purveyors together serve 1.3 million people. (*Id.*) This means that approximately 3.5 million people in this state receive piped public fluoridated water supplied with intent to prevent tooth decay disease.

The Office of Financial Management estimates that on April 1, 2011 for the 2010 census there were approximately 6.8 million people in our state. If fluoridated water is a drug, then about half the people in the state are being drugged by local agencies without people's consent and without the knowledge of the agencies or the people served. It is an issue of major public interest for the population and water purveyors to be able to have the question decided by Commission and the Courts as to whether their public fluoridated water and fluoridating additives are drugs when the intent is to prevent tooth decay disease.

If fluoridated water and fluoridating additives are drugs, people deserve to have drug warnings of adverse effects for their health, safety, and welfare. The powers and duties of the Commission include:

Promulgate rules for the . . . distribution, wholesaling, and manufacturing of drugs . . . for the protection and promotion of the public health, safety, and welfare.

(RCW 18.64.005(7); AR34.) If fluoridated waters and fluoridating additives are drugs, the vagueness of *Kaul* at 625 is preventing the Commission from performing it duties. This impacts public health, safety, and welfare of half of the people living in this state.

Medical safety can only be achieved when substances that are drugs are regulated as drugs.

It is the intent of the legislature to promote medical safety as a top priority for all citizens of our state.

(RCW 69.41.010 Findings - Intent - 2000 c. 8 s. 1.; AR141) The vagueness of *Kaul* at 625 should no longer be allowed to prevent the Legislature's intent from being accomplished.

F. CONCLUSION

First and foremost, Citizens requests when this Court scrutinizes the Administrative Record, that it clarify the cryptic statement in *Kaul* at 625:

Appellant's remaining assignments of error . . . that the city is not engaged in selling drugs . . . as defined by statute [is] not well taken.

This Court should clarify that this statement alone may not be interpreted to state that fluoridated waters and their fluoridating additives are not drugs when intended to prevent tooth decay disease.

Second, Citizens requests that this Court scrutinize the administrative record as required by *Rios* at 501-02 and find that there is not room for two opinions regarding whether the *Kaul* Court decided under former RCW 69.04.009 that fluoridating substances used in piped and bottled drinking waters cannot be drugs. There is only room for one opinion and that is that these issues were not decided in *Kaul*.

If this Court decides that the Commission willfully made its decision in an unreasoning manner in disregard and with inadequate consideration of the facts and circumstances in the Administrative Record, then Citizens requests that this Court remand the matter back to the Commission for bottled water and/or public piped water for further proceedings consistent with this Court's Opinion.