FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/25/2018 4:27 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95770-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY CITIZENS AGAINST FLUORIDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PHARMACY QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOYCE A. ROPER Senior Assistant Attorney General WSBA NO. 11322 7141 Cleanwater Lane SW PO Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98501-0109 (360) 586-6500

###

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

### V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Citizens claims that review should be accepted based on Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b)(4), i.e. "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Petition at 12-15. However, Citizens provides no good reason why this Court should review an agency action denying a rulemaking petition when the denial is consistent with prior case law and subject only to the highly deferential arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii). The Court of

Appeals correctly recognized that the Commission's denial based on prior case law was a reasoned decision; therefore, the Commission's denial was neither arbitrary nor capricious. The Court of Appeals also correctly noted that the arbitrary or capricious standard of review in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) is limited and did not warrant an extensive review of prior case law. Rather, the standard of review found in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) is not an avenue for addressing the validity of prior case law.

However, in making its claim of "substantial public interest," Citizens relies extensively on its position that prior case law has been misinterpreted or misapplied. But it fails to tether that argument to the of standard review in limited arbitrary capricious or RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii), applicable to the Commission's decision. As the Court of Appeals correctly said, in reviewing whether the Commission's denial was "reached though some process of reason," it does not matter whether Citizens can argue a different interpretation of prior case law nor does the court review the "entire precedential body of case law." King County Citizens, slip op. at 6 and 8.

In short, this case does not warrant review by the Supreme Court because the Court of Appeals correctly decided that the Commission's denial of a rulemaking petition was not arbitrary or capricious, and that ruling properly applies the APA standard of review to the unique facts of the Commission's denial of rulemaking.

# 1. The Court of Appeals appropriately declined to exceed the scope of review under the APA

Judicial review of agency action under the APA is limited and "invokes the appellate, not the general or original jurisdiction" of the courts. *Reeves v. Dep't of General Admin.*, 35 Wn. App. 533, 537, 667 P.2d 1133 (1983). *See Mader v. Health Care Auth.*, 149 Wn.2d 458, 468, 70 P.3d 931 (2003). Judicial review of the Commission's denial of Citizens' Petition for Rulemaking is limited by the standards found in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c). The specific standard of review is the arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii).

Citizens' claim that the Commission was arbitrary and capricious is premised on its disagreement with an interpretation of the case upon which the Commission relied in denying its Petition for Rulemaking. However, as held in *Squaxin Island Tribe v. Washington State Dep't of Ecology*, 177 Wn. App. 734, 741, 312 P.3d 766 (2013), the arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) does not "transform the agency's mandatory requirement to explain its denial into a mechanism to review the substance of the agency's discretionary decision."

As the Court of Appeals recognized when choosing to not address the majority of Citizens' briefing, the arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) does not provide a means to collaterally challenge the appellate court decision upon which the Commission relied in making its decision. Nor, as a general matter, should judicial review under RCW 34.05.470(4)(c) provide a means to ask appellate courts to address the merits of prior case law in order to force an agency to engage in rulemaking that would contradict such case law. Therefore, judicial review was properly rejected as a means to revisit, revise, or reverse this Court's denial of the petition for review in *Protect the Peninsula's Future*. Contrary to what Citizens argues, the APA is a means to obtain review of agency actions based on their immediate context and not a means to obtain judicial reconsideration of prior case law.

Citizens, nevertheless, seeks to expand the scope and focus of review under RCW 34.05.570(4)(c) by asking this Court to reverse or revise its 1954 decision in *Kaul*, and force the Commission to adopt proposed rules declaring that fluoridating substances added to drinking water are drugs. Citizens made similar requests to the Court of Appeals to revisit the decision in *Protect the Peninsula's Future*. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to consider Citizens' request because the scope of review under the arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) is limited to

ascertaining if the Commission reached its decision by a reasoned process. Here, that standard was met because the Commission examined prior case law and statutes and fairly denied the rulemaking petition because it was contrary to case law.

Citizens' request for this Court to revisit, revise, or review prior case law exceeds the scope of review in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii). That issue involves no substantial public interest, as it is uniquely presented by Citizens' desire to leverage its interpretation of prior case law to force rulemaking by the Commission. But there is no public interest that warrants this Court addressing an issue so unique and so contrary to the deferential scope of arbitrary and capricious review.

## 2. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the standard of review

The Court of Appeals applied the arbitrary or capricious standard in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) and found that the Commission was neither arbitrary nor capricious in denying Citizens' Petition for Rulemaking based on prior case law. Arbitrary or capricious action is defined as "willful and unreasoning action and taken without regard to the attending facts and circumstances." Wash. Indep. Tele. Ass'n v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 148 Wn.2d 887, 905, 64 P.3d 606 (2003). In applying this standard, as said in Aviation West Corp. v. Dep't of Labor & Industries,

138 Wn.2d 413, 432, 980 P.2d 701 (1999), "[t]he court must scrutinize the record to determine if the result was reached through a process of reason." The Court of Appeals recognized that the Commission "engaged in a process of reason . . . by relying on the plain language of the case law to support its decision;" therefore, the Commission's decision was not arbitrary or capricious. *King County Citizens*, slip op. at 6.

Under the arbitrary or capricious standard, the reviewing court does not review the "substance of the agency's discretionary decision." Squaxin Island Tribe, 177 Wn. App. at 741. Neither "the existence of contradictory evidence nor the possibility of deriving conflicting conclusions from the evidence renders an agency decision arbitrary and capricious." Rios v. Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 146 Wn.2d 483, 504, 39 P.3d 961 (2002). Furthermore, "an agency has wide discretion in deciding to forego rulemaking." Squaxin Island Tribe, 177 Wn. App. at 742; Rios, 146 Wn.2d at 507. The Court of Appeals ruling is on all fours with these principles. See King County Citizens, slip op. at 4-5 ("We review the agency record to determine only whether the agency reached its decision 'through a process of reason, not whether the result was itself reasonable in the judgment of the court." Squaxin Island Tribe, 177 Wn. App. at 742 [quoting Rios, 146] Wn.2d at 501] [emphasis in opinion]; "An agency action is not arbitrary or capricious simply because of contradictory evidence or the possibility of deriving conflicting conclusions from the evidence." *Squaxin Island Tribe*, 177 Wn. App. at 742).

The case at bar thus presents no significant issue warranting further review. When presented with the Petition for Rulemaking submitted by Citizens, the Commission discussed the *Kaul* and *Protect the Peninsula's Future* cases and decided to deny the Petition for Rulemaking based on those cases, relying on the statement that fluoridating substances added to drinking water are not drugs. AR at 0147-48. The Court of Appeals held that the Commission's reliance on a fair reading of *Protect the Peninsula's Future* in denying the rulemaking petition was not willful nor unreasoning. *King County Citizens*, slip op. at 5-6. The Commission's decision was reached through a process of reason. *Id.* at 6. Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision was correct. But, more to the point, the issue presented in the Petition for Review does not meet any of the criteria for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

At the proceeding before the Commission, Citizens admitted that it intended to use the Commission's denial of its Petition for Rulemaking as a means to "take this up to the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court again and try to get them to change their minds . . . ." Report of Proceedings (RP) at 16:22-25. The Court of Appeals properly declined Citizens' invitation to

use this case to exceed the scope and ignore the standards of review under the APA, and to revisit, review or revise prior cases deciding that fluoridating substances in drinking water are not drugs. Instead, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the standards of review for denial of a rulemaking petition in RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii) to find that the Commission's denial was derived through a reasoned process and, therefore, neither arbitrary nor capricious. Additional judicial review is not needed to review this application of the arbitrary and capricious standard again.

In the context of a petition for rulemaking to declare fluoridating substances added to drinking water a drug, the Commission must be entitled to examine relevant case law and rely upon it. The Commission is not, as Petitioner claims, arbitrary or capricious for failing to reexamine existing case law. To allow otherwise leads to a poor result, where parties file rulemaking petitions asking agencies to revise or reverse prior case law and then, on judicial review under the APA, petition the court to substitute its decision for that of the agency on a request to adopt rules. The arbitrary or capricious standard cannot be met simply because Citizens offers an alternative view that past case law was wrongly decided where the Commission declines to embrace Citizens' perspective.

For all these reasons, Citizens' Petition does not meet the standard for acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Citizens' disagreement with prior case law is not properly before this Court in this APA judicial review of the Commission's denial of a petition for rulemaking. The Court of Appeals was correct in declining to engage in a review of prior case law under the arbitrary and capricious standard of RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)(iii).